IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MANEY SIMMONS, JR.

V.

FILED

APPELLANT

JUN 2 3 2010
OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2010-KA-0259-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Hunter N Aikens, MS Bar No. 301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Maney Simmons, Jr.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MANEY SIMMONS, JR.

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2010-KA-0259-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT.
- II. THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for sexual battery entered against Maney Simmons, Jr., following a jury trial, the Honorable Kathy King Jackson, Circuit Judge, presiding. (C.P. 77, 85, Tr. 287, R.E. 4-5). The trial court sentenced Simmons to thirty (30) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, with twenty-five (25) years to serve day-for-day, and the remaining five (5) years

suspended. (C.P. 85, Tr. 296-97, R.E. 5). The trial court denied Simmons's motion for J.N.O.V. or, in the alternative for a new trial. (C.P. 83-84, 96 Tr. 311, R.E. 6-8). Simmons now appeals to this honorable Court for relief.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Manny Simmons Jr. ("Simmons") dated Kayesca Durr ("Durr") off and on for about ten years. (Tr. 165-67). Durr's children and Simmons had a good relationship; they regularly cooked out, took vacations, and celebrated holidays together. (Tr. 167-68, 190). According to Durr, on November 26, 2007, her son, her youngest daughter, ten-year-old K.D., and Simmons were at her house while she was at work, and K.D., called her and asked her to come home because Simmons was touching on her. (Tr. 169). When Durr arrived at her house, Simmons was sitting at the kitchen table, and Kandi was in the bathroom. Later that evening, Durr and Kandi went to the police station to report the incident. (Tr. 172). Durr testified that K.D. told her that Simmons was "touching on me," and she (K.D.) was in the bathroom. (Tr. 169-70). Durr left work, and when she arrived at her house Simmons was sitting at the kitchen table, and K.D. was in the bathroom. (Tr. 170). Durr asked Simmons what was going on, and he asked her what she was talking about. (Tr. 170). The two argued; and Durr told Simmons to leave, which he did. (Tr. 170-71).

Later that evening, Durr took K.D. to the police station. (Tr. 172). There, Officer David Richardson of the Moss Point Police Department interviewed K.D., and she told him that Simmons tried to get her to go into the bedroom with him; she refused; he grabbed her by the arm and/or waist; but she managed to escape, grab the phone, and lock herself in the bathroom and call her mother. (Tr. 62-63). She also told Officer Richardson that Simmons tried to force his way into the bathroom.

¹ Due to the sensitive nature of this case, the alleged victim's real name will not be used.

(Tr. 69). K.D. did not claim that Simmons performed any type of sexual act upon her or touched her privates. (Tr. 68-69).

The following day, Durr took K.D. to Singing River Hospital to be examined; on the way there K.D. told Durr that, when Simmons grabbed her the day before, he told her "we're going to do what we (sic) been doing." (Tr. 172). Durr asked K.D. what that was, and she said, "I don't know." (Tr. 172). At the hospital, Cynthia Horn, a SANE nurse (sexual assault nurse examiner) examined K.D. Horn testified that K.D. told her that she called her mother to come home because Simmons "tried to put his arms around my waist." (Tr. 135). K.D. told Horn that Simmons did nothing with his penis; he never made her touch him; he never made any type of anal contact or penetration; and, he never inserted any "object" inside her. (Tr. 139-40). K.D. reported no pain or bleeding. (Tr. 140). According to Horn, K.D. told her that she sometimes woke up with her pants off and Simmons in her room, and, a couple weeks prior (in October), he put his hand in her pants and kissed her private part. (Tr. 135-37, 141-42). K.D. also told Horn that when she ran into the bathroom, she locked herself inside, and Simmons tried to get in. (Tr. 136, Ex. S-3).

Horn performed a physical exam, but found no injuries or evidence of abuse on K.D.'s body, including her genitals and arms and/or waist, where she indicated that Simmons grabbed her. (Tr. 149-156). Horn also collected two vulvar swabs, the results of which were provided to the Moss Point Police Department; however, the results of the swabs were not produced at trial and, therefore, remain unknown. (Tr. 119-20, 156-57).

Horn concluded that her findings and the medical exam were consistent with the history reported by K.D. (Tr. 159). However, because Horn discovered no physical evidence of abuse, her stated reason(s) for suspecting abuse consisted only of K.D.'s statements: "All I had was the history that the child gave me. . . ." (Tr. 157-59). To this end, Horn admitted that her findings from the

medical exam were likewise consistent with a child that had not been sexually abused at all. (Tr. 159). She further acknowledged that, on her report, she marked "can neither confirm nor negate sexual abuse" underneath the heading "interpretation of anal/genitalia findings," and she admitted at trial that this was correct—she could neither confirm nor negate sexual abuse. (Tr. 163-64, Ex. D-4).

According to Durr, a police officer came to the hospital, took a report, and told her that she would put in the file. (Tr. 174). However, the Moss Point Police Office did not contact her about the case. (Tr. 174). Durr went to the police station several times, and the police told her that they were working on it. (Tr. 174). She also called and left messages, but the police did not call her back. (Tr. 174). Finally, Durr went to the police station and asked to speak to the chief. (Tr. 175). She explained why she was there, and the chief tried to locate the file but could not find it. (Tr. 175). Durr testified that the chief took her number and said she would call back but never did. (Tr. 175). So, Durr went back to the station, and the chief told her that the file did not have any documents related to Horn's examination. (Tr. 175). Durr then went to the hospital and picked up Horn's report and took it to the chief. (Tr. 85, 175-76, 179-80).

Finally, almost one year after the incident, Joycelyn Craig of the Moss Point Police Department was assigned to the case. (Tr. 73). Officer Craig conducted a video-taped interview of K.D., during which K.D. told the same story that she told Officer Richardson initially. (Tr. 99-101, 106-115, Ex. D-2, D-3). On the video, K.D. repeatedly denied that Simmons touched her or performed any type of sexual act on her. (Ex. D-2, D-3). On the video, Officer Craig specifically asked K.D. if Simmons ever felt on her, touched her, or licked her, and K.D. said, "no." (Tr. 110, 112, 115, 122, Ex. D-2, D-3). Officer Craig also asked K.D. several times if she ever woke up and felt wet between her legs, and she responded "no" each time. (Tr. 115, Ex. D-2, D-3).

However, notwithstanding K.D.'s video-taped statement(s), Officer Craig claimed at trial that K.D. told her that Simmons performed oral sex on her three times; curiously, this alleged statement was contained in a written report prepared by Officer Craig on the day of the video interview. (Tr. 75-76, Ex. S-2). Officer Craig claimed that K.D. made this statement to her either before or after the video interview. (Tr. 108-111).

At trial, K.D. testified that on November 26, 2007, she, her brother, and Simmons were at Durr's house. (Tr. 189). She testified that Simmons sent her brother to the store, and, a few minutes later, told her "come on and do what we been doing (sic)." (Tr. 191). When asked what that was, K.D. responded that he had been touching/licking her in her private area, being her vaginal area. (Tr. 194-95). She stated that he licked her private area "a couple of weeks before," and it happened five or six times at night in her bedroom (Tr. 196-97). K.D. stated that this happened with her pajamas (shorts) on but pulled to the side. (Tr. 197-98).

According to K.D., Simmons grabbed her arm in the kitchen, and she "snatched away," ran to the restroom, and called Durr; she also testified that she called her mother three times. (Tr. 191-92, 217). She testified that Simmons was "pushing to get in;" however, she admitted that the bathroom that she retreated to did not have a lock on it, as she reported to Officers Richardson and Craig, and nurse Horn. (Tr. 193, 212-13). When asked why she told Officer Richardson and nurse Horn that she locked herself in the bathroom, K.D. claimed that she meant that she was pushing against it and Simmons was unable to overpower her and get in. (Tr. 213, 217).

K.D. testified that Simmons left the house a few minutes later, and she went into another bathroom, but he came back, and she ran into "the main bathroom again." (Tr. 194). K.D. recalled that Simmons left after Durr returned and the two argued for a little while. (Tr. 194).

At trial, the above-mentioned evidence was adduced during the State's case-in-chief, at the

conclusion of which, the defense moved for a directed verdict, which was denied, and then rested its case. After deliberation, the jury returned a verdict of guilty. (Tr. 287, C.P. 77, R.E. **).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The evidence was insufficient to support the verdict. There was no physical evidence to substantiate the allegation(s) that Simmons licked K.D.'s vagina, thus the State's case against Simmons rested on K.D.'s statements/testimony. However, as explained in more detail in the argument section, K.D.'s testimony was substantially impeached by her own prior inconsistent statements. Accordingly, the evidence was insufficient to support the verdict, and Simmons submits that he is entitled to have this Honorable Court reverse his conviction and sentence and render a judgement of acquittal in his favor.

Alternatively, should this Honorable Court determine that the evidence was not insufficient to support the verdict, Simmons submits that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and he is entitled to have this Honorable Court reverse his conviction and sentence and remand this case for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

I. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT.

The State presented insufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict that Simmons was guilty of sexual battery against K.D. In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, the relevant inquiry is whether, "viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Bush* v. *State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005) (quoting *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315, 99 S.Ct. 2781, (1979)). The verdict will not be disturbed where the evidence so reviewed is such that

"reasonable fair-minded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions on every element of the offense." *Id.* (citing *Edwards v. State*, 469 So. 2d 68, 70 (Miss.1985)). However, the proper remedy is to reverse and render where the evidence "point[s] in favor of the defendant on any element of the offense with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty[.]" *Id.*

There was no physical evidence to substantiate the allegation. To this end, Horn testified that she discovered no physical evidence of abuse, and she admitted that only reason for suspecting abuse was K.D.'s statement(s): "All I had was the history that the child gave me. . . ." (Tr. 157-59). Horn further admitted that the medical exam findings were consistent with a child that had *not* been sexually abused, and she acknowledged that, on her report, she marked "can neither confirm nor negate sexual abuse" underneath the heading "interpretation of anal/genitalia findings." Significantly, Horn admitted at trial that this was in fact correct—she could neither confirm nor negate sexual abuse. (Tr. 159, 163-64, Ex. D-4). Accordingly, as there was no physical evidence and no eyewitness(es) other than the alleged victim, the State's case rested on K.D.'s word.

The testimony of an alleged victim of a sex crime may be sufficient unless it "is substantially contradicted by other credible testimony or physical facts" and/or "it is [in]consistent with the circumstances." *McKnight v. State*, 738 So. 2d 312, 314 (¶¶8-10) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999); see also, e.g., *Green v. State*, 887 So. 2d 840, 845-46 (¶13) Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (quoting *Goss v. State*, 465 So. 2d 1079, 1082 (Miss. 1985)); *Seigfried v. State*, 869 So. 2d 1040, 1043 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

In the instant case, K.D.'s testimony was substantially contradicted by her own prior inconsistent statements and physical facts. Although she claimed at trial that Simmons touched and licked her privates, K.D. did not report that Simmons had ever performed any type of sexual act upon

her or touched her privates to Officer Richardson on the night of the November 26, 2007, incident. (Tr. 62-63, 68-69). Additionally, on the video-recorded interview between K.D. and Officer Craig, K.D. repeatedly and explicitly denied that Simmons ever touched her or performed any type of sexual act on her. (Tr. 110, 112, 115, 122, Ex. D-2, D-3). Thus, K.D.'s testimony was severely contradicted/impeached by her own prior statements.

Additionally, K.D.'s testimony was contradicted by the physical facts. In this regard, K.D. told both Officer Richardson and nurse Horn that she locked herself in the bathroom, and Simmons tried to force his way in. (Tr. 62-63, 69, 136, Ex. S-3). However, she admitted at trial that the bathroom that she retreated to did not have a lock on it. (Tr. 193, 212-13). When asked why she told Officer Richardson and nurse Horn that she locked herself in the bathroom, K.D. claimed, incredibly, that what she meant was that she (a ten-year-old girl) was pushing against the unlocked door and Simmons (a grown man) was unable to overpower her and get in. (Tr. 213, 217). Therefore, K.D.'s testimony rendered here accusations "exceedingly improbable and unreasonable." *See generally, Cole v. State*, 217 Miss. 779, 786-87, 65 So. 2d 262, 264-65 (Miss. 1953) (conviction reversed where the State's main witness was unreliable because testimony made the accusations "exceedingly improbable and unreasonable.").

In sum, there was no physical evidence and no eyewitness other than K.D.; therefore, the State's case rested on her testimony. K.D.'s testimony was substantially contradicted by her very own prior inconsistent statements and the physical facts, and it was inconsistent with the circumstances she claimed to have occurred. Accordingly, Simmons submits that the evidence was insufficient to support the verdict, and he is entitled to have this Honorable Court reverse his conviction and sentence and render a judgement of acquittal in his favor.

II. THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Should this Honorable Court determine that the State presented sufficient evidence to support the verdict, Simmons argues, alternatively, that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

In reviewing a challenge to the weight of the evidence, the verdict will be only be disturbed "when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Bush*, 895 So. 2d at 844 (¶18). The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Id.* (citing *Herring v. State*, 691 So. 2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997)). This Court "sits as a hypothetical thirteenth juror." *Lamar v. State*, 983 So. 2d 364, 367 (¶5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Bush*, 895 So. 2d at 844 (¶18)). "If, in this position, the Court disagrees with the verdict of the jury, 'the proper remedy is to grant a new trial." *Id.*

For the reasons identified and argued above pertaining to the sufficiency of the evidence, Simmons submits that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and allowing it to stand on such weak evidence would sanction an unconscionable injustice. Accordingly, Simmons submits that he is entitled to have this Honorable Court reverse his conviction and sentence and remand this case for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Based on the propositions briefed and the authorities cited above, together with any plain error noticed by the Court which has not been specifically raised, Simmons respectfully requests that this honorable Court reverse the conviction and sentence entered in the trial court and render a judgment of acquittal in his favor or, alternatively, reverse his conviction and sentence and remand this case for a new trial.