IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MANEY SIMMONS, JR.

VS.

.

.

NO. 2010-KA-0259

APPELLANT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against a judgment of the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi in which the Appellant was convicted and sentenced for his felony of **SEXUAL BATTERY**.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the night of 26 November 2007, David Richardson, then a patrolman with the Moss Point, Mississippi police department, was summoned to the police station to take a complaint. When he arrived, at about half past eleven that evening, he spoke with the victim and her mother. Richardson was told by the victim that the Appellant had attempted to "entice her for sex." The victim stated that the Appellant had tried to get her to go into a bedroom with him, that she refused, that the Appellant then picked her up by the waist and grabbed her arm, but that she had managed to free herself of his embrace and take refuge in a bathroom. The Appellant's attempt to force the bathroom door failed. Richardson was told or determined that the Appellant was born on 15 July 1950. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 61 - 72).

Detective Joycelyn Craig, a detective sergeant with the Moss Point police department, was on 25 September 2008 assigned to investigate the allegations made by the victim against the Appellant, the matter having previously been assigned to another investigator in November, 2007.

On the date the case was assigned to her, Craig interviewed the victim. The victim told her that she and her brother had been at home alone with the Appellant. The Appellant sent her brother to a store. After her brother left, the Appellant attempted to drag her into a bedroom. The Appellant grabbed her by the arm and waist. The victim said she had managed to escape the Appellant's clutches and take sanctuary in a bathroom, where she was able to ring her mother. When her mother arrived at their residence, the victim was yet within the bathroom.

In the course of the interview, part of which was recorded by an audio recorder, the victim stated that the Appellant had not performed cunnilingus upon her. After the audio tape recorder had been turned off, the victim told Craig that the Appellant performed cunnilingus upon her person. Craig wrote down what the victim told her. The victim and her mother read what Craig had written and signed the statement. The Appellant had been living with the victim and her mother at the time of the incident and was said to have been romantically involved with the victim's mother. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 72 - 78; 84 - 128).

Cindy Horn, a registered nurse with Singing River Hospital, was permitted to testify in the field of sexual assault assessment. She stated that she saw the victim on 27 November 2007. The victim told Horn that the Appellant had grabbed her by the waist earlier that evening and that she had run to a bathroom. The victim told the nurse that she called her mother and reported what the Appellant had done and that the Appellant was trying to touch her all over. The victim also told the nurse that the Appellant had put his mouth on her privates some two weeks before and that the

Appellant had begun such actions toward in October. The victim stated that the Appellant touched her when her mother was at work, and that the Appellant disposed of her brother by having him go to the store for him.

The victim went on to relate that she had sometime wakened in her bed to find that her pants were off and that the Appellant was in the room. She said that the Appellant tried to touch her all over and that he had put his hand into her pants. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 129 - 150).

The victim's mother then testified. She said she had been with the Appellant for some ten years, excluding the times she caught him doing something. The Appellant and her children got on well.

On 26 November 2007, the victim's mother was working a night shift at a VFW post. The Appellant was at her home with the victim and the victim's brother. At some point while the victim's mother was to her work, the victim rang her. The victim was crying and told her mother to come home. The victim told her that the Appellant was touching her. The victim's mother left her work to drive to her home.

While the victim's mother was on her way to her home, the victim rang her again and told her that she was in a bathroom. The victim's mother told the victim to stay there. The victim's mother then called her father, reported what the victim had told her, and asked her father to meet her at her house and to bring his gun.

When the victim's mother arrived at her home, she parked her vehicle in such a way as to block the Appellant's truck. The victim's mother went into the house and found the Appellant sitting at a kitchen table. The victim's mother asked the Appellant, "What the hell is going on up in here?", to which the Appellant replied, "What the hell you mean? What you talking about, what's going on up in here? I don't know what you're talking about." At that point, the victim opened the bathroom door. She was soaking wet. The victim's mother went to her daughter, and at about that time the victim's mother's father arrived and went to the victim and hugged her.

The victim's mother asked the victim what had happened. The victim told her that the Appellant had been touching her and trying to get her on a bed. Upon hearing that, the victim's mother turned to the Appellant and said, "Let me tell you something. Don't nobody mess with my babies. Those are mines. Those are my babies. Don't nobody mess with my babies. Y'all come a dime a dozen. Now you get the &*%^ out of my house. Don't you never ever come back here no more. I mean it." The Appellant denied having done anything to the victim and implored the victim to tell the truth. The victim replied, "Well, you did it." At that point, the victim's mother's father told the Appellant he should leave. The Appellant began to do so and did so after the victim's mother moved her vehicle.

After the Appellant left, the victim's mother and her mother's father consoled the victim. The victim was crying and shaking. The victim's mother put the victim in bed with her, but the victim was still upset.

The victim's mother's mother advised the victim's mother to take the child to a hospital. As the victim and her mother were getting out of the victim's mother's car, to go into the emergency room of the hospital, the victim told her mother, "Mama, he did say we're going to do what we been doing." When the victim's mother asked her daughter what the Appellant had been doing, her daughter told her, "I don't know." In the course of the examination by the SANE nurse, the victim told the nurse that the Appellant had performed oral sex on her. The nurse told the victim's mother of what the victim said. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 165 - 179).

The victim then testified. She said that the Appellant was in her house on the night of 26 November 2007, as was her brother, her mother being at work. At some point, the Appellant sent the victim's brother to a store for snacks. The Appellant began looking out of a window as soon as the boy left the house. After a few minutes, the Appellant told the victim, "Come on and do what we been doing." The Appellant grabbed her arm. The victim thought that what was going to happen was what usually happened. The victim freed herself, ran to a bathroom and rang her mother and asked her to return home. The bathroom door did not have a lock. The Appellant stood outside the door and told her to come out. The victim pushed against the door to keep the Appellant out.

After a few minutes, the Appellant left the house. The victim ran to her mother's bathroom. When she heard the sound of the Appellant's vehicle, she ran back to the bathroom in which she had first taken refuge. She then thought the sound was not from the Appellant's vehicle, so she went back to her mother's room, and back to the bathroom again when she thought she did hear the Appellant's truck. The victim's mother arrived and put the Appellant out of the house.

The victim testified that the Appellant had previously touched her vaginal area. Specifically, the Appellant had licked her vaginal area. She stated that the Appellant had done this some five or six times. These instances occurred at night, in October of 2007, in the victim's bedroom. The Appellant came into her room, pulled her shorts aside, and violated her in the manner she described. The victim did not call out to her mother during these times because her mother was at work.

The victim stated that the reason she initially failed to tell the truth to the police officer was because she was frightened. She denied having annoyed the Appellant by having changed television channels while he was watching football. She stated that she did not earlier report what the Appellant had done to her mother because she was scared. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 186 - 229).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

WAS THE EVIDENCE SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT? WAS THE VERDICT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

THAT THE VERDICT WAS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE; THAT THE VERDICT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

ARGUMENT

THAT THE VERDICT WAS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE; THAT THE VERDICT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE¹

The Appellant asserts that the evidence was insufficient to support the verdict, or, alternatively, that the trial court erred in refusing to grant a new trial on the ground that the verdict was contrary to the great weight of the evidence. In considering the Appellant's claims, we bear in mind the standards of review applicable to those claims. *May v. State*, 460 So.2d 778 (Miss. 1984).

The testimony in support of the verdict, taken as true together with all reasonable inferences therefrom, was that the Appellant, had, on at least one occasion some two weeks prior to 27 November 2007, committed an act of cunnilingus upon the victim, the victim being some ten years of age at the time and the Appellant being some fifty-seven years of age. There was no evidence to contradict or impeach the testimony of the victim. The act committed by the Appellant upon the victim, in view of the ages of the victim and the Appellant, constituted a violation Miss. Code Ann. Sections 97-3-95(1)(d); 97-3-97(a) (Rev. 2006). The victim's testimony was sufficient to support a verdict of guilty. *Parramore v. State*, 5 So.3rd 1074 (Miss. 2009). Nonetheless, the Appellant claims that certain aspects of the victim's account of the events of the night of 27 November 2007 require the conclusion that the verdict was not supported by the victim's testimony or that a new trial should have been granted him.

Other than the victim and the Appellant, there were no witnesses to the act committed by the

¹ We will respond to the Appellant's two assignments of error in this response.

Appellant against the victim. This is hardly unusual in cases of this kind, of course. There was no biological evidence to corroborate the victim's testimony, but this was hardly surprising given the nature of the act committed against the victim and given the fact that some two weeks went by before the victim was examined by a SANE nurse. Evidence of this nature would not likely have been found in view of these considerations.

The victim testified as to what the Appellant attempted to have her do on the evening of 27 November 2006. The Appellant sent the victim's brother away, and the Appellant tried to get the victim to get into bed with him, to do what they had been doing, to use the words the victim testified the Appellant used, after the Appellant satisfied himself that the victim's brother had actually left the house. The victim took refuge in a bathroom and rang her mother. When the victim's mother returned home, the victim was in the bathroom and was very upset when she came out of the bathroom.

The Appellant claims that there was no physical evidence to substantiate the allegation. It is true that there was nothing found by the SANE nurse to substantiate the victim's account, but, as we have said, that it hardly surprising. The nature of the act committed by the Appellant and the amount of time between the commission of that act and the examination by the nurse made it highly unlikely any physical evidence or symptoms of sexual battery would have been found. The lack of physical evidence is not fatal to the conviction. *Pierce v. State*, 2 So.3rd 641 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

The Appellant then contends that the child's testimony was substantially contradicted by the fact that she had initially denied that the Appellant committed cunnilingus against her to the police officer. It is true that the victim did initially tell the investigator that the Appellant had not committed a sexual act against her. The victim explained this by the fact, hardly unreasonable, it might be said, that she was scared. It should be recalled, though, that the victim did tell the SANE

nurse what had occurred and that she reported this prior to speaking to the investigator. It should also be recalled that law enforcement did not interview the victim for some time after the victim's initial report to the nurse.

It is not uncommon to find that child victims are reticent to tell adults, particularly those who are unknown to them, of sexual crimes committed against them. It is not uncommon to find that these victims initially lie about what was done to them. *Ross v. State*, 2009-KA-00796-COA, Slip Op. at 5 (Miss. Ct. App., Decided 15 June 2010, Not Yet officially Reported). In the case at bar, while it may be that the victim did initially lie to the investigator, she did report what the Appellant had done to the nurse, and, when she told the police officer the truth, that statement was fully consistent with what she told the nurse. Her testimony at trial was consistent with these reports. It was a matter for the jury to consider, in considering what weight and credibility to give to the victim's testimony. The fact that the victim did not tell the patrol officer of what the Appellant had done some two weeks before is not so surprising: at the time, the victim's mother was unaware at the time of what had occurred two weeks prior, and the purpose of meeting with the patrol officer was to report what the Appellant had done on the night of 27 November 2007.

The Appellant then tells this Court that the victim's testimony was contradicted by the physical facts of the case. According to the Appellant, the bathroom door was not equipped with a lock; thus, the child was wrong about having locked the door. The Court is further told that the child could not have physically resisted the Appellant, if the Appellant was indeed attempting to force the door. It is true that there was testimony that there was not, in fact, a lock on the bathroom door and that the victim testified that she locked herself inside the bathroom. However, this discrepancy seems to us a piddling one in view of the fact that there was not discrepancy concerning the fact that the victim did take sanctuary in the bathroom and the in view of the fact that she was in that

bathroom when her mother returned home, a fact that certainly corroborated the victim's testimony. While it may be supposed that the child would not have been able to physically resist a grown and reasonably fit man, had he brought his strength full to bear against the door, it is evident that he did not do so. There was no indication that the door was in any way damaged, and there was no testimony that he forced his way into the bathroom. That the Appellant exerted some force, made some attempt, does not require the conclusion that he used all the force he might have used. His attempt in this respect was consistent with the amount of physical force he used when he grabbed the child.

The Appellant would have the Court suppose that the victim's testimony in this regard was fabricated on the notion that the child would not have been reasonably expected to have been able to successfully physically resist the Appellant. Yet, there is no basis to conclude that, because the Appellant did not utilize all of his strength, he used none of it.

In cases involving children, one simply cannot reasonably expect the sort of detailed accuracy as to subordinate points of fact as one would expect of an adult. Nor can one reasonably expect a child to have the kind of maturity one would expect of an adult when it comes to discussing a sexual crime committed against him. And, of course, given the nature of this sort of crime, it is the rule rather than the exception that the only witnesses will be the victim and the accused, where the accused testifies. Corroborating evidence in the nature of DNA or biological evidence will not always be available, either because of the way in which the crime was committed or on account of the passage of time. In the case at bar, the jury heard the testimony and observed the victim. The jury was aware of what the victim told the law enforcement officers and what she told the nurse. The victim's account was not impeached and was not contradicted in material particulars. The testimony was sufficient to permit the jury to find guilt. With respect to the Appellant's contention that the trial court erred in refusing to grant a new trial, we note, first of all, that there was no evidence contrary to the verdict, much less such evidence that might be said to be overwhelmingly so.

Beyond this, there is nothing to show that the verdict might be reasonably thought to be an unconscionable one. The victim testified as to the Appellant's act against her, and that testimony was fully sufficient upon which to permit the jury to found its verdict, as we have said above. There was no testimony or evidence to controvert the victim's account; nor was her testimony impeached in any material way. There is simply nothing shown here to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing a new trial to the Appellant.

Finally, we note that the Appellant suggests that this Court may find such an abuse for no better or other reason than a mere disagreement by it with the verdict. It is true enough that language exists in some decisions that seemingly would suggest that a mere disagreement by the Court with a verdict reached by a jury is a sufficient basis upon which to find error on the part of the convicting court in refusing a new trial, and, predictably enough, this language has been wrenched from its context by some appellants. As noted in *Ross v. State, supra*, ". . . the power to grant a new trial should be invoked only in exceptional cases in which the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict." *Ross*, Slip Op. at 10. A rule that a mere disagreement with a verdict would be sufficient to require a new trial would be a rule that would effectively reduce juries to merely advisory bodies. Yet, juries are more than an advisory body, and more than a simple disagreement must exist, and be shown to exist, in order to upset the judgment of a jury.

In the case at bar, it cannot be reasonably said that the evidence heavily preponderates against the verdict. In fact, there is no evidence set against the verdict. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing a new trial.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.